LABORATORY PRIMATE NEWSLETTER

Volume 2, Number 4
October, 1963

Edited by

Allan M. Schrier

with the assistance of Fred Stollnitz and Judith E. Schrier

Consulting Editor: Morris L. Povar

Psychology Department
Brown University
Providence, Rhode Island

POLICY STATEMENT (Revised April, 1963)

The primary purpose of the Newsletter is to provide information on maintenance and procurement of nonhuman primates for laboratory studies. A secondary purpose is dissemination of general information about the world of primate research. Examples of the kind of practical information that would be useful are as follows: new drugs; novel aspects of cage design; new products; evaluations of various products; references to or short summaries of articles of general interest; experiences in connection with the procurement of monkeys. The Newsletter will also publish offers to exchange monkeys (for example, older monkeys for young or infant monkeys) and requests for monkeys with special characteristics (for example, good breeders or pregnant females). If someone has a special problem, he might want to request help through the Newsletter.

As a rule, only research articles or summaries which have some practical implications or which provide general information likely to be of interest to investigators in a variety of areas of primate research will be accepted for inclusion in the Newsletter. Descriptions of current research projects will also be welcome. If should be kept in mind that the Newsletter is not a formal publication and that it is not likely to be obtainable in libraries. Therefore, citation of Newsletter notes or articles in publications is not recommended.

Information for the Newsletter will be welcome from anyone in any research area who is using monkeys or apes. The Newsletter will appear quarterly and will continue so long as people are interested enough to contribute items of information. The mailing list is open to anyone expressing an interest. There is no subscription charge. However, only new issues and back issues for the current year will be mailed to new subscribers free of charge. Volume 1 of the Newsletter may be purchased for \$1.00. (Please make checks payable to Brown University.)

All correspondence concerning the Newsletter should be addressed to:
Allan M. Schrier
Psychology Department
Brown University
Providence, Rhode Island 02912

Acknowledgments

The Newsletter is supported in part by a Grant (MH-07136) from the National Institute of Mental Health, U. S. Public Health Service.

EDITOR'S NOTES

In the October, 1962, issue, we mentioned that 10-mg. orange-flavored Isoniazid tablets are available, and gave the source of the tablets. We recently learned of a cheaper source, the David Yellen Co., Inc., Canton, Massachusetts. The price is \$11.95 per thousand.

Although the number of contributions is not increasing, the length of our mailing list is, as a glance at the back of each issue of the Newsletter would suggest. The Newsletter is currently being sent to 568 individuals or organizations.

We have gotten several letters from dealers recently inquiring about our advertising policy. The answer is that we do not accept advertising. We try to distinguish between outright advertising and useful information about various products and services. We are willing to publish, free of charge, anything that falls into the latter category, although the distinction is difficult to make at times.

If you have been deluged with circulars about products and services having to do with nonhuman primates, you can, as you probably have guessed, blame the <u>Newsletter</u> mailing list. We expected this outcome, which was one of the reasons for our publishing the mailing list. We assume that mailed advertising might inform you of products or services of which you were not aware. As a matter of fact, you may notice that we have included the Editor's name and address in the current Additions to Mailing List. We found that we were being left out; for example, apparently everybody but us got the first issue of <u>Folia Primatologica</u>.

CONTENTS

Editor's Notesiii
Laboratory Maintenance of the Tree Shrew
Request for Information 2
More Notes on Saimiri sciureus 3
Offer to Exchange Monkeys 4
Primate Social Behavior: Library Checklist 4
Symposium Announcement
Additions to List of Monkey Importers9
Newspaper Clippings 9
Recent Articles and Books 10
Additions to Mailing List
Address Changes24

LABORATORY MAINTENANCE OF THE TREE SHREW

(Tupaia glis Diard 1820)

William A. Draper

Yerkes Regional Primate Research Center of Emory University

Orange Park, Florida

Several characteristics of the tree shrew make it of considerable interest as a laboratory animal. It is one of the most primitive of primates; it has a short gestation period (43 to 46 days) and as many as eight litters of one to three animals per year irrespective of season; it is sexually mature at approximately 6 mo.; and at maturity it is still a relatively small animal—about the size of an adult female albino rat. An excellent review of the behavior and breeding of the tree shrew is provided by Sprankel (1961).

During 1962, the Yerkes Laboratories obtained 13 tree shrews. Tigges (in press) has tested some of these animals for learning capacity and retention, and I have been investigating discrimination-reversal learning with them. However, we have had great difficulty with maintenance and now only 3 survive of the original 13. Thus, it may be important to consider some of the techniques we used and the problems we encountered in maintaining these animals in captivity.

The first shipment of tree shrews (three adults, four subadults) was housed as a group in a wire mesh cage (90 cm x 90 cm x 75 cm). At one end was a tier of six small cages (23 cm x 23 cm x 28 cm), each having an entrance hole. Sticks were placed horizontally and vertically in the large cage to permit climbing, and nesting materials (paper, twigs) were provided. It was possible to view the animals in the small cages through clear plexiglas which formed the end of the cage. Throughout, the tree shrews all crowded into one of the small cages and remained there except during feeding and rare forays into the open. The nesting materials were seldom used. They were caged in this manner for about 3 mo., during which the adult animals killed and ate the younger ones. In a fight between two adult males, one was killed but not subsequently eaten.

To decrease fighting and also to facilitate testing of single animals, the remaining animals and six adults were placed in individual wire mesh cages (60 cm x 60 cm x 70 cm). Each cage was equipped with overhead neon lights operating on a 12-hr. daily cycle (7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.). Again, climbing sticks were provided and a small home box was placed in each cage to enable the animals to retreat into a darkened area. A drip pan was installed beneath the floor of each wire cage.

Since their arrival the tree shrews have been given a variety of fresh fruit (oranges, apples, bananas, grapes), meat (liver, hamburger, chicken), and vegetables (lettuce, beans) daily, and cottage cheese once a week. Animals differ in their food preferences and it takes only a

few days to discover the diet preferred by each. Most eating takes place within the first hour following presentation of the food. Fresh water is available ad libitum and a liquid vitamin supplement (Vita Mates, Rexall Drugs) is added weekly. Delvex (Lilly) is also added approximately every 3 weeks to control intestinal parasites.

Death in the present caging arrangement results from three types of causes: (1) minor changes in the maintenance schedule which may increase susceptibility to disease (e.g., food or water presentation delayed 6 to 12 hr., water untouched because of animals' distaste for certain vitamin supplements, temporary removal of the animal from the cage during cleaning); (2) intestinal parasites; (3) fighting as a result of inappropriate pairing of male and female adults. When the animals become ill they lose their hair, lose weight, stop eating, stay in their home boxes, and show signs of diarrhea. They frequently die within 48 hr. regardless of treatment. No births have occurred. However, one female aborted and the fetus was eaten.

It has been our experience that the tree shrew is a very delicate animal and requires constant and skilled care. The optimum laboratory conditions are not yet worked out to our satisfaction.

Bibliography

- Sprankel, H. On the behavior and breeding of <u>Tupaia glis</u> (Diard 1820) in captivity. <u>Zeitschr. Zool.</u>, 1961, 165, 186-220.
 Translated by the Translating Section, Library Branch, Division of Research Services, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland.
- 2. Tigges, J. On learning capacity, retention and memory in <u>Tupaia glis</u> (Diard 1820). <u>Folia Primatologica</u>, in press.

*

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

Under the direction of Dr. K. R. L. Hall, we are establishing a program of behavioral study of <u>Erythrocebus patas</u>. The patas monkey is a little known, well nigh rare species of terrestrial primates, which roams the grassland and veldt of western Central Africa.

As far as I have been able to determine, there has been no prior behavioral work done on the patas, and to my knowledge the physiology, pathology, and medicinal treatment of patas diseases is unknown. Therefore, I should very greatly appreciate any bits or scraps of information which might be forthcoming from readers of the Newsletter.

R. Charles Boelkins
Department of Psychology
University of Bristol
8-10 Berkeley Square
Bristol 8, England

MORE NOTES ON SAIMIRI SCIUREUS

Barbara A. Brooks

Yerkes Regional Primate Research Center of Emory University

Orange Park, Florida

Squirrel monkeys have been kept successfully in the Yerkes Laboratories on an ad-lib diet of bananas, apples, oranges, and Purina Monkey Chow. A flavored vitamin supplement (trade name Vi-Syneral, Arlington Funk Labs.) placed in the water supply noticeably improves the condition of the skin and coat.

The monkeys were heavily infested with hookworm on first arriving at the Laboratories but responded well to treatment with powdered dithiazanine iodide (Delvex, Lilly) which was mixed with banana or sprinkled on chow biscuits.

Stool analyses on the most recent shipment of monkeys revealed the presence of Trichuris (whipworm), Strongyloides, Trichomonas, and Macrocanthorhynchus hirudinaceus (thorny-headed worm). Powdered thiabendozole (Merck) was immediately and thoroughly effective against Strongyloides. We could find no recommended medication for the thorny-headed worm, but it disappeared while the animals were being treated with Delvex for whipworm, and diodiquin (Searle) for Trichomonas. Whipworm has been the most persistent parasite, but gradually reduces under extended treatment with Delvex.

On arrival the squirrel monkeys were placed in small quarantine cages (24 in. by 18 in. by 22 in.) in pairs or trios. Tails were rubbed raw on the cage floors and occasionally the animals bit each other severely when excited. Removal to large vertical cages (36 in. by 23 in. by 85 in.) with adequate perches and hutches eliminated both problems, and the animals appear to be cleaner and more active.

Minimum air temperatures of 55° F do not appear to cause discomfort to the animals housed in our outdoor cages, nor produce any health problems. It is necessary to provide the monkeys with heat if temperatures persist below this level.

If maintained on a deprivation diet these monkeys work eagerly for monkey chow. Optimal health and work motivation were obtained under the following daily diet per individual: 1/6 orange, 1/6 apple, 1-in. section of banana, and 6 pieces of monkey chow. Two working animals have been maintained on this diet for 5 months, others for shorter periods. Behavioral test performance dropped when the animals were returned to an ad-lib diet. Our animals refused a commercial banana-flavored pellet and took few "new" foods, such as raisins, even when hungry.

Gross electrodes were permanently implanted in the brains of several animals. We found the combination tranquilizer (Largon) and

Nembutal anesthetic recommended by Woodburne (LPN, $\underline{2}$, #1) to be completely satisfactory. Postoperative care included an IM injection of 250,000 units of Bicillin, and 10 cc (IP) of 5% dextrose in saline. Animals were placed in a recovery cage and wrapped in towels to keep them warm until they could be returned to the home cage. Apparent recovery was observed in all cases within 10 to 18 hr.

Some monkeys have been placed in a restraining chair for two to three hours daily over a period of several weeks. A good deal of stress and difficulty is avoided by administering an anesthetic dose of nitrous oxide just prior to placing the animal in the chair. This is done while the monkey is in a small airtight wooden "gas box" fitted with a plastic window for observation. The animal can be removed and locked into the restraining chair within the 30 or 40 sec. required for recovery and there are no ill effects.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE MONKEYS

Quite often we get calls for large monkeys. From a weight standpoint alone, these animals are not economical to bring in as the cost of air transportation is quite high. For this reason, we are willing to exchange small monkeys for large monkeys of any kind. We are also interested in obtaining good breeders or pregnant females.

V. D. Rider, Jr.
Rider Animal Co.
Box 229
Warrenton, Virginia

*

PRIMATE SOCIAL BEHAVIOR: LIBRARY CHECKLIST

A checklist was recently compiled as a supplement to our "Recent Additions" list, which might be of interest to some readers of the Newsletter. The checklist is not intended to be a comprehensive bibliography; rather, it is a list of those items found to be most useful as assigned or recommended reading in a new field of inquiry whose basic theory and procedures are only now beginning to be formed.

Postcard requests for the checklist are preferred. There is no charge. Requests should be sent to:

Robert E. Pfeiffer, Librarian Anthropology Library 230 Kroeber Hall University of California Berkeley 4, California

SYMPOSIUM ANNOUNCEMENT

First International Symposium

on the Baboon and

Its Use as an Experimental Animal

November 5 - 8, 1963

Sponsored by

SOUTHWEST FOUNDATION FOR RESEARCH AND EDUCATION

San Antonio 6, Texas

The use of the baboon as an experimental animal is increasing very rapidly. There has been an increasing awareness of the need to share present knowledge and chart future research.

Authors and Titles (as of August 2, 1963)

Leonard R. Axelrod, Ph.D., Chairman, Department of Biochemistry, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas
"Investigations Concerning the Metabolism of Estrogens in both
Cardiac and Peripheral Skeletal Muscle of the Baboon"
*"Studies on the Biosynthesis of the Steroid Hormones in the Testes
and Adrenals of Baboons"

David H. Baeder, Ph.D., Director, Biological Sciences, Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals, St. Louis, Missouri

"A Comparison of Blood Lipid Fractions of Various Experimental Animals including the Baboon"

Nigel A. Barnicot, Ph.D., Professor of Anthropology, University College, London, England

"Serum and Red Cell Protein Variants in Baboons"

John Buettner-Janusch, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut

"The Baboon as a Laboratory Subject for Serological and Biochemical Work"

^{*}These subjects will be presented at the Symposium by title and included, along with papers that are read, in a book to be entitled, "The Baboon."

- Garman H. Daron, Ph.D., Professor of Anatomy, The University of Oklahoma Medical Center, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma "A Morphological Study of the Nucleus Dentatus of the Baboon"
- Irven DeVore, Ph.D., Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts "Changes in the Population Structure of Nairobi Park Baboons, 1959-1963"
- Joseph Gillman, M.D., and Christine Gilbert, M.D., National Institute of Health & Medical Research, Accra, Ghana, Africa
 "The Endocrine and Lipid Metabolism in the Baboon--(a) Physiological (b) Experimental"
- M. E. Groover, Jr., M.D., University of Oklahoma Medical Center, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

"Experimental Arterial Lesions in the Baboon"
*'Myocardial Necrosis without Atherosclerosis and Produced by
Vagus Stimulation in the Wild Kenya Baboon"

John J. Haglin, M.D., Assistant Director, Department of Surgery, Minneapolis General Hospital & MGH Research Foundation, Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota

"Function Studies of the Autografted Baboon Lung: Comparison with the Dog"

George R. Herrmann, M.D., Professor of Medicine, the University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, Texas

"An Electrocardiographic Study of Domestic and African Baboons of the San Antonio Colony"

Claude R. Hitchcock, M.D., Ph.D., Joseph C. Kiser, M.D., Robert L. Telander, M.D., Edward L. Seljeskog, M.D., and James F. Bascom, M.D., Chief of Surgery (Hitchcock), Minneapolis General Hospital & MGH Research Foundation, Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota

"Successful Replantation of the Baboon Kidney Following 22 Hour Extracorporeal Refrigeration"

F. W. Hoffbauer, M.D., Professor of Medicine, Minneapolis General Hospital, Minneapolis, Minnesota

"Nutritional Liver Injury (choline-deficiency fatty liver) in the Baboon"

A. N. Howard, Ph.D., Professor of Pathology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, England

"Serum Proteins, Liproproteins and Lipids in the Baboon's Normal and Atherosclerotic Diets"

S. S. Kalter, Ph.D., Chairman, Department of Microbiology, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas
"Virological Studies on the Normal Baboon (<u>Papio doguera</u>)"

- David Kritchevsky, Ph.D., and Irwin L. Shapiro, Ph.D., The Wistar Institute, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

 "Biosynthesis and Transport of Cholesterol in the Baboon"

 *"Experimental Atherosclerosis"
- Hans Kummer, Ph.D., Hirnanatomisches Institute, Waldau-Bern, Switzerland "The Relevance of Studies on Social Behavior in Captive Hamadryas Baboons as Compared with Field Results"
- Robert H. LePere, M.D., P. E. Benoid, Ph.D., R. C. Hardy, M.D., and J. W. Goldzieher, M. D., Affiliate Member (LePere), Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas

"The Origin and Function of the Ovarian Nerve Supply in the Baboon"

Henry C. McGill, Jr., M.D., and Jack P. Strong, M. D., Professor and Chairman, Department of Pathology (McGill), Louisiana State University School of Medicine, New Orleans, Louisiana

"Spontaneous Arterial Lesions in Baboons"

*"Serum Cholesterol in Baboons"

- *"Naturally Occurring Parasitic and other Lesions in Baboons"
- Donald H. Masters, D.D.S., Research Associate, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas

"Studies on the Periodontium and Periodontal Disease in Baboons of the San Antonio Colony"

Joseph L. Melnick, Ph.D., Baylor University College of Medicine, Houston, Texas

"The Use of the Baboon for the Preparation of Antiserum for Virus Identification"

J. Moor-Jankowski, M.D., Human Genetics Branch, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

"The Baboon as a Laboratory Animal in Immunohematology"
*"The Use of 1-(1-Phenylcyclohexyl) Piperidine Monochloride
("Sernylan" Parke, Davis & Co.) for Handling and Anesthesia
in the Baboon" (J. Moor-Jankowski & Arthur Rodriguez)

*"Normal Blood Values, Blood Groups, Serum Specificities, and Preservation of Blood of the Baboon" (J. Moor-Jankowski, H. J. Huser, Alexander S. Wiener, and Arthur J. Pallotta)

John Moossy, M.D., Professor of Pathology and Neurology, Louisiana State University School of Medicine, New Orleans, Louisiana "Central Nervous System Lesions in the Kenya Baboon"

G. S. Nelson, M.D., London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, England

"The Parasitic Helminths of Baboons"

- Arthur J. Pallotta, Ph.D., Director of Research, Bionetics Research Laboratories, Inc., Falls Church, Virginia "Care and Maintenance of a Small Baboon Colony"
- A. Ratner, M.D., Research Associate, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas "Observations of Lower Urinary Tract Function in the Baboons"
- O. M. Reed, D.D.S., Research Associate, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas "Studies on the Dentition and Eruption Pattern in the San Antonio Baboon Colony"
- T. W. Roth, D.V.M., General Curator, National Zoological Park, Washington, D.C.
 "The Taxonomy of the Baboon and its Position in the Order of Primates"
- Edward L. Seljeskog, M.D., Claude R. Hitchcock, M.D., Ph.D., M. E. Groover, Jr., M.D., Claire J. A. Strobel, M.D., and John J. Haglin, M.D. (Seljeskog) Minneapolis General Hospital Research Foundation, Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota

 "Coronary Artery Studies in the Baboon Versus the Dog Utilizing Surgically Induced Myocardial Infarctions"
- Dietrich Starck, M.D., Anatomisches Institut, Frankfurt Am Main, Germany
 "Some Remarks on Morphological Problems of the Baboon Skull (Skull-base, Development of Skull, Brain-size and Skull Form)"
- Robert Telander, M.D., and Claude R. Hitchcock, M.D., Ph.D., Minneapolis General Hospital Research Foundation, Inc., Minneapolis, Minnesota "Successful Replantation of the Baboon Kidney Following Prolonged Extracorporeal Perfusion at Normal Temperature and with Normal Function"
- Robert L. Van Citters, M.D., and Dean L. Franklin, University of Washington School of Medicine (Van Citters), Seattle, Washington "Hemodynamic Studies in Ambulatory Baboons"
- Thomas E. Vice, D.V.M., and A. Rodriguez, Staff Veterinarian, Southwest Foundation for Research and Education, San Antonio, Texas
 "Care and Maintenance of the San Antonio Baboon Colony"
 *"Clinical and Physiological Observations in the Baboon"
- S. L. Washburn, Ph.D., Professor of Anthropology, University of California, Berkeley, California
 "The Behavior and the Ecology of Baboons in their Natural Habitat"
- N. T. Werthessen, Ph.D., Associate Research Professor, The University of Oklahoma Medical Center, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
 "The Baboon as a Laboratory Animal for Studies Related to Atherosclerosis"

ADDITIONS TO LIST OF MONKEY IMPORTERS (See January, 1962, issue for original list)

International Animals Exchange, Inc., 22041 Woodward Ave., Ferndale 20, Michigan

G. van den Brink, N.V., P. O. Box 15, Soest, Holland

NEWSPAPER CLIPPINGS

SAYS MONKEYS TRAINED TO TRAIN THEMSELVES

A Yale University scientist has trained monkeys to train themselves. He completed an intricate experiment in which the subordinate members of a monkey colony learned to turn the usually nasty boss monkey into a sweet-natured peer.

Yale officials said last night that Dr. Jose M. R. Delgado, associate professor of physiology, outlined the experiment at the second international pharmacological meeting at the University of Prague, Czechoslovakia. Dr. Delgado said the behavior patterns of the normally ill-tempered macaca rhesus could be changed by electrical charges carried to various areas of the brain by electrodes. He also noted that the entire colony could be conditioned socially by stimulating only one of its members.

In his experiment, Dr. Delgado said, he equipped a boss monkey named Ali with electrodes. The apparatus was set up so that a tone sounded two seconds before the stimulation and continued through it. The professor said that Ali was first stimulated remotely. Then a lever was attached to the colony cage near the feeding tray. When it was pressed, the tone sounded, followed by a five-second stimulation of Ali.

The other three monkeys used in the experiment soon learned that by pressing the lever they made Ali less aggressive and more docile, Dr. Delgado said.

The Providence Evening Bulletin, Providence, R. I., August 21, 1963

RECENT ARTICLES AND BOOKS

The bibliography below is not intended to be comprehensive. It includes titles that we could obtain conveniently from such sources as "Current Contents," from receipt of reprints, and from perusal of some of the journals in the Brown University Library.

Psychology: Behavioral and Physiological

- Weiskrantz, L., and Cowey, A. Striate cortex lesions and visual acuity of the rhesus monkey. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, 56, 225.
- Gross, C. G. Locomotor activity following lateral frontal lesions in rhesus monkeys. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, <u>56</u>, 232.
- Stamm, J. S., and Knight, Marcia. Learning of visual tasks by monkeys with epileptogenic implants in temporal cortex. <u>J. comp.</u> physiol. Psychol., 1963, <u>56</u>, 254.
- Wilson, W. A., Jr., Oscar, Marlene, and Gleitman, H. The effect of frontal lesions in monkeys upon widely spaced delayed-response trials. J. comp. physiol. Psychol., 1963, 56, 237.
- Butler, R. A., and Woolpy, J. Visual attention in the rhesus monkey. J. comp. physiol. Psychol., 1963, 56, 324.
- Menzel, E. W., Jr., Davenport, R. K., Jr., and Rogers, C. M. Effects of environmental restriction upon the chimpanzee's responsiveness in novel situations. J. comp. physiol. Psychol., 1963, 56, 329.
- Brown, W. L., and McDowell, A. A. Response shift learning set in rhesus monkeys. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, <u>56</u>, 335.
- Rumbaugh, D. M., and McQueeney, J. A. Learning-set formation and discrimination reversal: learning problems to criterion in the squirrel monkey. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, <u>56</u>, 435.
- Michael, R. P., and Herbert, J. Menstrual cycle influences grooming behavior and sexual activity in the rhesus monkey. Science, 1963, 140, 500.
- Knapp, H. D., Taub, E., and Berman, A. J. Movements in monkeys with deafferented forelimbs. <u>Exp. Neurol.</u>, 1963, <u>7</u>, 305.
- Van, T. A., and Nezlina, N. I. (Inst. Physiol. Acad. Sci., Chinese People's Repbl. and Acad. Sci., Moscow, USSR.) On changes in electrical activity of the cerebral cortex in the course of conditioning in monkeys. (In Russian) <u>J. higher nerv. Activity-Pavlov</u>, 1963, <u>13</u>, 235.

- Zakher, Y. Ya. (Sechenov Inst. Evolutionary Physiol., Acad. Sci., Leningrad, USSR.) Conditioned reflexes to relative and absolute properties of stimuli under conditions of their simultaneous and successive presentation to monkeys. (In Russian) J. higher nerv. Activity--Pavlov, 1963, 13, 26.
- Windle, W. F. Neuropathology of certain forms of mental retardation. Science, 1963, 140, 1186.
- Jacobs, G. H. Spectral sensitivity and color vision of the squirrel monkey. J. comp. physiol. Psychol., 1963, 56, 616.
- Rosenblum, L. A., and Cross, H. A. Performance of neonatal monkeys in the visual cliff-situation. Amer. J. Psychol., 1963, 76, 318.
- Mahut, Helen, and Cordeau, J. Spatial reversal deficit in monkeys with amygdalohippocampal ablations. Exp. Neurol., 1963, 7, 426.
- Miles, W. R. Psychology--chimpanzee behavior: removal of foreign body from companion's eye. Proc. nat. Acad. Sci., 1963, 49, 840.
- Ricci, G. F., Valassi, F., and Zamparo, L. (Ist Farmacol., Univ. Pisa, Ist. Farmacol. Farmacognosia, Univ. Roma) Modifications of primary evoked responses in the sensory-motor area of the monkey during conditioned behavior. (In Italian) <u>Boll. Soc. Ital. Biol. sper.</u>, 1963, 39, 591.
- Delgado, J. M. R. Cerebral heterostimulation in a monkey colony. Science, 1963, 141, 161.
- Schastnyi, A. I. The dynamics of development of differentiating inhibition in the process of building complex forms of behaviour of anthropoid apes (chimpanzee). (In Russian) <u>Proc. Acad. Sci.</u>, USSR, 1963, 150, 1404.
- Koroleva, L. V. Conditioned reflexes to photic stimuli in monkeys after removal of the occipital lobes at different ages. (In Russian) J. higher nerv. Activity--Pavlov, 1963, 13, 482.
- Ferster, C. B., and Zimmerman, J. Fixed-interval performances with added stimuli in monkeys. J. exp. Anal. Behav., 1963, 6, 317.
- McDowell, A. A., Brown, W. L., and Wicker, J. E. Effects of radiation exposure on response latencies of rhesus monkeys. <u>J. genet.</u> Psychol., 1963, 102, 225.
- Bush, R. D., Rohles, F. H., Reynolds, H. H., and Koestler, F. G. Relationship between skin temperature and performance in the Java monkey. J. appl. Physiol., 1963, 18, 752.
- Coates, H. J., Cragg, B. G., and Downer, J. de C. An automatic visual-training apparatus for monkeys. J. Physiol., 1963, 167, 33P.

Mason, W. A., Saxon, Sue V., and Sharpe, L. G. Preferential responses of young chimpanzees to food and social rewards. <u>Psychol</u>. <u>Rec.</u>, 1963, <u>13</u>, 341.

Weissman, N. W. Latency, rate, and switching behavior of monkeys in components of multiple fixed-ratio schedules of reinforcement. <u>Diss. Abstr.</u>, 1963, <u>24</u>, 408 (63-4204, 62 pp.).

Symmes, D. Effect of cortical ablations on visual exploration by monkeys. J. comp. physiol. Psychol., 1963, 56, 757.

Brown, T. S. Olfactory and visual discrimination in the monkey after selective lesions of the temporal lobe. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, <u>56</u>, 764.

Bossom, J., and Hamilton, C. R. Interocular transfer of prismaltered coordinations in split-brain monkeys. \underline{J} . \underline{comp} . $\underline{physiol}$. Psychol., 1963, $\underline{56}$, 769.

Berkson, G., Mason, W. A., and Saxon, Sue V. Situation and stimulus effects on stereotyped behaviors of chimpanzees. \underline{J} . \underline{comp} . $\underline{physiol}$. Psychol., 1963, $\underline{56}$, 786.

Farrer, D. N., Grunzke, M. E., and Gilbert, G. A. Chimpanzee performance on a continuous avoidance task during acceleration at sustained levels. Aerospace Med., 1963, 34, 744.

Pinc, B. W., and Barr, N. L. Some responses of squirrel monkeys to high G--brief duration acceleration profiles. <u>Aerospace Med.</u>, 1963, 34, 752.

Scheckel, C. L. The effect of chlorpromazine (Thorazine) and chlordiazepoxide (Librium) on delayed matching responses in the Macaca mulatta. Diss. Abstr., 1963, 24 (63-5601, 101 pp.).

Stewart, C. N. The effects of lysergic acid diethylamide and chlorpromazine on learning and social behavior in the monkey. Diss. Abstr., 1963, 24 (63-4263, 136 pp.).

Sandler, J., and Stone, W. F. (V.A. Hospital, Coral Gables, Florida). Laboratory observations of two sub-species of marmosets. <u>Psychol</u>. Rep., 1963, <u>13</u>, 139.

The results of over two years of observations on Hapale
Jacchus (common marmoset) and Tamarinus nigricollis (white-lipped tamarin) are summarized. The authors conclude that, while problems in the maintenance and use of marmosets continue to exist, there is good reason to believe that the establishment of such a primate colony could represent an important addition to many psychological laboratories.

Pathology

Bruce, J. I., Warren, K. S., and Sadun, E. H. Observations on the pathophysiology in <u>Schistosomiasis mansoni</u> in monkeys. <u>Exp.</u> Parasitol., 1963, <u>13</u>, 194.

Wharton, R. H., Eyles, D. E., and Warren, McW. The development of methods for trapping the vectors of monkey malaria. Ann. trop. Med. Pathol., 1963, 57, 32.

Votyakov, V. I. Studies of tick-borne encephalitis in Byelorussia. Report I. The course of experimental infection in <u>Macaca rhesus</u> monkey. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (<u>Voprosy Virusol.</u>), 1963, No. 2, 184.

Pille, E. R., Nadaichik, L. V., and Veronina, F. V. Studies on ECMO viruses in experiments on monkeys. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (Voprosy Virusol.), 1963, No. 2, 204.

Layton, L. L., Panzani, R., Yamanaka, E., and Greene, F. G. Neutralization of specific reagins in monkeys passively sensitized by cross-reactive allergy sera. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, <u>112</u>, 945.

Roca-Garcia, M. A variant MEF strain of Type II Poliovirus readily grown in chicken embryos and retaining pathogenicity for monkey-kidney tissue cultures and mice. Nature, 1963, 198, 715.

Adjigitov, F. I. On relationship of polyoma virus and tissue culture of monkeys. <u>Acta Union Internationalis Contr Cancrum</u> (Eighth International Cancer Congress), 1963, 19, 332.

Deichman, G. I., and Prigogina, E. L. On the oncogenic action of monkey tissue culture preparations. <u>Acta Union Internationalis</u> Contr Cancrum (Eighth International Cancer Congress), 1963, 19, 334.

Barany, E. H., and Rohen, J. W. Glaucoma in monkey. Arch. Opthalmol., 1963, 69, 630.

Fuentes-Marins, R., Rodriguez, A. R., Kalter, S. S., Hellman, A., and Crandell, R. A. Isolation of enteroviruses from the "normal" baboon (Papio doguera). J. Bacteriol., 1963, 85, 1045.

Konyukhov, B. V., Bochkov, N. P., and Sazhina, M. V. On the "hybrid" antigen in monkeys (Theropithecus gelada and Papio hamadryas). (In Russian) <u>Bull. exp. Med. Biol.</u>, <u>USSR</u>, 1963, <u>55</u>, 111.

Baron, S., Friedman, R. M., and Buckler, C. E. Properties of poliovirus inhibitor from monkey brain. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, <u>113</u>, 107.

Van den Berghe, L., Chardome, M., and Pell, E. Trypanosomes of the African lemurs, <u>Perodicitus potto ibeanus</u> and <u>Galago demidovi</u> thomasi. <u>J. Protozool.</u>, 1963, <u>10</u>, 133.

- Weinstein, P. P., Rosen, L., Laguer, G. L., and Sawyer, T. K. Angiostrongylus cantonensis infection in rats and rhesus monkeys, and observations on the survival of the parasite in vitro. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg., 1963, 12, 358.
- Ghitis, J., Piazuelo, Elena, and Vitale, J. J. Calif.-Harvard Nutrition Project. III. The erythroid atrophy of severe protein deficiency in monkeys. <u>Amer. J. clin. Nutrit.</u>, 1963, <u>12</u>, 452.
- Adam, J. H., Daniel, P. M., and Prichard, Marjorie M. L. Volume of the infarct in the anterior lobe of the monkey's pituitary gland shortly after stalk section. <u>Nature</u>, 1963, <u>198</u>, 1205.
- Tobie, J. E., Kuvin, S. F., Contacos, P. G., Coatney, G. R., and Evans, C. B. Cross reactions in human and simian malaria. \underline{J} . Amer. med. Ass., 1963, 184, 945.
- Vitale, J. J., Velez, H., Guzman, C., and Correa, P. Magnesium deficiency in the cebus monkey. <u>Circulation Res.</u>, 1963, <u>12</u>, 642.
- Marsh, J. T., Lavender, J. F., Chang, S.-S., and Rasmussen, A. F. Poliomyelitis in monkeys: decreased susceptibility after avoidance stress. <u>Science</u>, 1963, <u>140</u>, 1414.
- Sugiyama, H., McKissic, E. M., Jr., and Bergdoll, M. S. Sensitivity of thorotrast-treated monkeys to staphylococcal enterotoxin. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, <u>113</u>, 468.
- Taylor, C. B., Trueheart, R. E., and Cox G. E. Atherosclerosis in rhesus monkeys. Arch. <u>Pathol</u>., 1963 <u>76</u>, 14.
- Huff, C. G., and Hoogstrall, H. <u>Plasmodium lemuris</u> n. sp. from Lemur collaris E. Geoffroy. <u>J. infect. Dis.</u>, 1963, <u>112</u>, 233.
- Arbiter, D. Brain lesions in monkeys infected with <u>Pasteurella</u> tularensis. J. infect. <u>Dis.</u>, 1963, <u>112</u>, 237.
- Panzani, R., and Layton, L. I. Allergy to the dust of <u>Ricinus</u> <u>communis</u> (castor bean): Clinical studies upon human beings and passively sensitized monkeys. <u>Internat</u>. <u>Arch</u>. <u>Allerg</u>. <u>appl</u>. <u>Immunol</u>., 1963, 22, 350.
- Campbell, W. C., and Cuckler, A. C. Efficacy of a 2-phenyl quinoline against experimental <u>Schistosoma mansoni</u> infections in mice and monkeys. <u>J. Parasitol.</u>, 1963, <u>49</u>, 528.
- Garnham, P. C. C. A new sub-species of <u>Plasmodium knowlesi</u> in the long-tailed macaque. <u>J. trop. Med. Hyg.</u>, 1963, <u>66</u>, 156.
- Stasilevich, Z. K. The effect of hypovitaminosis C on the course of experimental intestinal infections in monkeys. (In Russian) <u>Bull. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, <u>USSR</u>, 1963, <u>55</u>, 52.

- Takaoka, T., Katsuta, H., Endo, M., Sato, K., and Okumura, H. Establishment of a cell strain, JTC-12, from cynomolgus monkey kidney tissue. <u>Japanese J. exp. Med.</u>, 1963, <u>32</u>, 351.
- Cox, G. E., Trueheart, R. E., Kaplan, J., and Taylor, C. B. Atherosclerosis in rhesus monkeys. <u>Arch. Pathol.</u>, 1963, <u>76</u>, 166.
- Dunn, F. L., Lambrecht, F. L., and du Plessis, R. Trypanosomes of South American monkeys and marmosets. Amer. J. trop. Med. Hyg., 1963, 13, 524.
- Penschew, A., Ebner, F. F., and Kovatch, P. M. Experimental manganese encephalopathy in monkeys. A preliminary report. J. Neuropathol. exp. Neurol., 1963, 22, 488.
- Jungherr, E. L., Cabasso, V. J., and Stebbins, M. Comparative pathology of attenuated poliovirus and simian viruses 12 and 40 in monkeys and mice. \underline{J} . Neuropathol. $\underline{\text{exp}}$. Neurol., 1963, $\underline{22}$, 512.
- Huang, C. C., Chang, S. C., Lin, Y. C. Chen, K. H., and Hsu, I. K. Nephrotoxic serum renal disease in the Taiwan monkey. <u>J. lab. clin.</u> Med., 1963, 62, 201.
- Kono, R., Hamada, C., Hoshino, M., Fukada, T., Ashkhara, Y. and Yaoi, H., Jr. Studies on mixed infection with poliovirus Type 1 and Echo virus, Type 7 in monkeys and cell cultures. $\underline{\text{Amer}}$. $\underline{\text{J}}$. $\underline{\text{Hyg}}$., 1963, $\underline{\text{78}}$, 89.
- Gleiser, C. A., Berdjis, C. C., Hartman, H. A., and Gochenour, W. S. Pathology of experimental respiratory anthrax in <u>Macaca mulatta</u>. <u>Brit. J. exp. Pathol.</u>, 1963, <u>44</u>, 416.
- Richart, R., and Benirschke, K. Causes of death in a colony of marmoset monkeys. <u>J. Pathol. Bacteriol.</u>, 1963, <u>86</u>, 221.
- Hunt, R. S., Meltzer, G. E., and Landau, W. M. Fusimotor function: Part I. Spinal shock of the cat and the monkey. <u>Arch. Neurol.</u>, 1963, 9, 120.
- Meltzer, G. E., Hunt, R. S., and Landau, W. M. Fusimotor function: Part III. The spastic monkey. Arch. Neurol., 1963, 9, 133.
- Layton, L. L., Yamanaka, E., Greene, F. C., and Perlman, F. Atopic reagins to penicillin, pollens and seeds: thermolability, titer and persistence in the skin of passively sensitized macaque monkeys. <u>Intern. Arch. Allergy appl. Immunol.</u>, 1963, <u>23</u>, 87.
- Taylor, C. B., Manalo-Estrella, P., and Cox, G. E. Atherosclerosis in rhesus monkeys. <u>Arch. Pathol.</u>, 1963, <u>76</u>, 239.
- Meisenhelder, J. E., and Thompson, P. E. Comparative observations on experimental <u>Schistosoma mansoni</u> infections in African green and rhesus monkeys. <u>J. Parasitol.</u>, 1963, <u>49</u>, 567.

- Hstl, H. F., Davis, J. R., Hstl, S. Y. L., and Osborne, J. W. Histopathology in albino mice and rhesus monkeys infected with irradiated cercariae of Schistosoma japonicum. Zeitschr. Tropenmed. Parasitol., 1963, 14, 240.
- Kolyaskina, G. I. Virological and serological data on latent SV₄₀ infection in <u>Macaca rhesus</u> monkey. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (<u>Voprosy Virusol.</u>), 1963, No. 4, 450.
- Chumakova, M. Ya., Chumakov, M. P., Elbert, L. B., Ralf, N. M., Voroshilova, M. K., and Avgustinovich, G. I. Demonstration of antibody to Simian virus (SV40) in human sera. Serological evidence of infection from monkeys and kidney cultures. (In Russian) Probl. Virol. (Voprosy Virusol.), 1963, No. 4, 457.
- Chumakova, M. Ya., Avgustinovich, G. I., and Zavodova, T. I. Antibodies to SV₄₀ in monkeys of various species. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (<u>Voprosy Virusol.</u>), 1963, No. 4, 452.
- Karmysheva, V. Ya., Shestopalova, N. M., Reingold, V. N., Kolyaskina, G. I., and Chumakov, M. P. A cytological and cytochemical study of SV_{40} -infected primary and continuous cultures from kidney tissue of monkey Cercopithecus aethiops. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (<u>Voprosy Virusol.</u>), 1963, No. 4, 460.
- Shestopalova, N. M., Reingold, V. N., Kolyaskina, G. I., and Chumakov, M. P. Electron microscopy of vacuolizing virus SV₄₀ in cells of grivet monkey kidney cultures and in virus suspensions. (In Russian) Probl. Virol. (Voprosy Virusol.), 1963, No. 4, 466.
- Dzagurov, S. G., Chumakov, M. P., Karmysheva, V. Ya., Kolyaskina, G. J., Kurochkina, N. P., and Panosyan, L. B. The use of the florescent antibody method to locate SV_{40} in the cell and to reveal it quickly in the vaccine. (In Russian) Probl. Virol. (Voprosy Virusol.), 1963, No. 4, 471.
- Gravrilov, V. I., Dodonova, N. N., Kuborina, L. N., Voronin, E. S., and Shchekochikhina, E. A. A study of adenovirus infection in <u>Macaca rhesus</u> monkey. (In Russian) <u>Probl. Virol.</u> (<u>Voprosy Virusol.</u>), 1963, No. 4, 475.
- Groover, M. E., Siljeskoz, E. L., Haglin, I. J., and Ilitchcock, C. R. Myocardial infarcation in the Kenya baboon without demonstrable atherosclerosis. <u>Angiology</u>, 1963, <u>14</u>, 409.
- Dunn, F. L., and Lambrecht, F. L. (The George William Hooper Foundation and Dept. of Med., San Francisco Medical Center, Univ. of Cal., San Francisco, Cal.) The hosts of <u>Plasmodium brasilianum</u> Gonder and von Berenberg-Gossler, 1908. <u>J. Parasitol.</u>, 1963, 49, 316.

Eckert, J. Thiabendazole as an anthelminthic for zoo animals. (In German) Kleintier-Praxis, 1963, 8, 34.

In doses of 50, 75, and 100 mg/kg, the drug was effective against strongyloid worms, partly effective against Oesophagostomum, and ineffective against ascarids, hookworms, and Trichuris in cercopithecine monkeys and in apes. The drug was given in powder form with food, or in suspensions per os by stomach tube. Apes generally refused the drug.

Marsboom, R., Mortelmans, J., and Vercruysse, J. (Antwerp Zoological Gardens, Antwerp, Belgium) A neuroleptic used as antiemetic in a gorilla. (In German) Kleintier-Praxis, 1963, 8, 61.

Describes the use of Haloperidol, a phenylpiperidine neuroleptic drug, for treatment of chronic vomiting by a gorilla following meals.

Anatomy

Garrett, Marion H. The autonomic nervous system of the rhesus monkey. <u>Diss. Abstr.</u>, 1963, <u>23</u> (63-3658, 132 pp.).

White, J., Biurgler, M. T., and Verdura, J. Cerebral angiography in the monkey by retrograde brachial injection. \underline{J} . Neurosurg., 1963, $\underline{20}$, 400.

van Alphen, G. W. H. M. Structure in miosis and mydriases of monkey eye. Arch. Opthalmol., 1963, 69, 802.

Larson, S. J. The connections of the cingulate gyrus and insula in the monkey. Diss. Abstr., 1963, 23 (63-3423, 259 pp.).

Physiology

Elmadjian, F. Biochemical study of large primate response to severe environmental stressors. Report No. ARL-TDR-63-18, May, 1963, 6571st Aeromedical Research Lab., Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico.

Biochemical studies were conducted on immature chimpanzees undergoing 20 hours without food and water at temperatures of 70° , 80° , 90° , 95° , and 100° F at 50% humidity; acceleration-deceleration tests; and the suborbital flight of chimpanzee No. 65 (HAM). Twelve urine determinations and seven plasma determinations were obtained with the view of evaluating respiration (acid-base balance), nitrogen metabolism, adrenal-pituitary and sympathico-adrenal systems.

Forchielli, E., and Elmadjian, F. Characterization of hormonal steroids of the chimpanzee. Report No. ARL-TDR-63-17, May, 1963, 6571st Aeromedical Research Lab., Holloman Air Force Base, New Mexico.

This report attempts to establish (a) the qualitative and quantitative nature of steroid hormones of the chimpanzee, and (b) to report changes observed in adrenal cortical functions

during stimulated and actual space flights. Steroid determinations made include: Blood: plasma 17-hydroxycorticosteroids (17-OHCS) and cholesterol; Urine: 17-OHCS, 17-kestosteroids (17-KS), estrone, estradiol, estriol, pregnanediol, pregnanetriol, and aldosterone. Quantitative chromatography of 17-KS was also accomplished. Analyses were made on both the mature and immature chimpanzee.

Tcheng, K. T., Chao, T. H., Chu, Y. T., and Ching, J. C. Preliminary note on the studies of the lipofuscin in the nerve cells of the rhesus monkey. <u>Scientia Sinica</u>, 1963, <u>12</u>, 454.

Fahmy, A. N., and Huggett, A. St. G. The placental formation of fructose in the lemur. J. Physiol., 1963, 166, 28.

Jacobs, G. H., Jones, A. E., and DeValois, R. L. Electroretinogram of the squirrel monkey. <u>J. comp. physiol. Psychol.</u>, 1963, <u>56</u>, 405.

Preston, J. B., and Whitlock, D. G. A comparison of motor cortex effects on slow and fast muscle innervations in the monkey. Exp. Neurol., 1963, 7, 327.

Daigneault, E. A. The distribution of intravenously administered yttrium chloride (carrier free) in the rhesus monkey. <u>Toxicol</u>. <u>appl. Pharmacol.</u>, 1963, <u>5</u>, 331.

Mastroiani, L., Jr., and Manson, W. A., Jr. Collection of monkey semen by electroejaculation. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, 112, 1025.

Caveness, W. F. Recensiones: Atlas of electroencephalography in the developing monkey Macaca mulatta (G. Adam). Acta Physiol., 1963, 23, 227.

Erickson, L. B. Sex skin turgescence, vaginal smear changes, and determination of the period of ovulation in the chimpanzee. Fertility & Sterility, 1963, 14, 273.

Hodosh, M., and Montagna, W. Cholinesterases in the tongue of the potto (Perodicticus potto). Anat. Rec., 1963, 146, 7.

Haywood, J. M., Hilliard, J., and Sawyer, C. H. Preovulatory and postovulatory progestins in monkey ovary and ovarian vein blood. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, <u>113</u>, 256.

Brodie, D. A., and Marshall, R. W. Gastric content of fasted primates: a survey. <u>Science</u>, 1963, <u>141</u>, 174.

Ryabinina, Z. A., and Ustina, L. B. Regeneration of the liver in monkeys. (In Russian) <u>Bull. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, <u>USSR</u>, 1963, <u>55</u>, 52.

Seshachar, B. R., and Bagga, S. Cytochemistry of the oocyte of Loris tardigradus lydekkerianus (Cabr.) and Macaca mulatta mulatta (Zimmerman). J. Morphol., 1963, 113, 119.

Berkrman, R. E., Heller, C. J., Battaglia, F. C., and Hellengers, A. E. A comparison of the oxygen affinity of maternal and fetal blood of the Macaca mulatta. Quart. J. exp. Physiol., 1963, 48, 258.

Banerjee, S., and Bandyopadhyay, A. Further observations on plasma lipids of vegetable oil fed monkeys. <u>Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.</u>, 1963, 113, 541.

Votaw, C. L., and Lauer, E. W. Blood pressure, pulse, and respiratory changes produced by stimulation of the hippocampus of the monkey. Exp. Neurol., 1963, 7, 502.

Metta, V. C., and Gopalan, C. A study of the vitamin K requirement of the monkey (Macacus radiata). Indian J. med. Res., 1963, 51, 512.

Brindley, G. S. Red-sensitive retinal pigments in the frog, Jersey bull calf and East African baboon. J. Physiol., 1963, 167, 49P.

Giolli, R. A. An experimental study of the accessory optic system in the cynomolgus monkey. <u>J. comp. Neurol.</u>, 1963, <u>121</u>, 89.

Adey, W. R., Kado, R. T., and Rhodes, J. M. Sleep: cortical and subcortical recordings in the chimpanzee. <u>Science</u>, 1963, <u>141</u>, 932.

Doty, R. W., and Kimura, D. S. Oscillatory potentials in the visual system of cats and monkeys. <u>J. Physiol.</u>, 1963, <u>168</u>, 205.

Krohn, P. L., Oxnard, C. E., and Chalmers, J. N. M. Vitamin B12 in the serum of the rhesus monkey. Nature, 1963, 197, 186.

An overall picture of very low levels of serum vitamin B12, usually without obvious signs or symptoms of deficiency, in monkeys on a vegetarian diet is reported. The authors mention that in particular they intend to study the influence of vitamin B_{12} supplements in their group of breeding females, the fertility of which has proved to be disappointingly low.

Field Studies, Ecology, and Taxonomy

Koford, C. B. Rank of mothers and sons in bands of rhesus monkeys. Science, 1963, 141, 356.

Hershkovitz, P. (Chicago Natural History Museum) A systematic and zoogeographic account of the monkeys of the genus <u>Callicebus</u> (Cebidae) of the Amazonas and Orinoco river basins. <u>Mammalia</u>, 1963, <u>27</u>, 1.

Fooden, J. A revision of the woolly monkeys (genus <u>Lagothrix</u>). <u>J. Mammal.</u>, 1963, <u>44</u>, 213.

A study of 312 specimens of woolly monkeys and all known literature records reveals that the genus <u>Lagothrix</u> consists of two allopatric species. Four races are recognized. Information is given on dentition, breeding records, and habits.

ADDITIONS TO MAILING LIST

Robert L. Abrams
Dept. of Medicine
School of Med. & Dent.
and Strong Memorial Hosp.
260 Crittenden Boulevard
Rochester 20, New York

K. AndoCentral Laboratories for
 Experimental Animals8-254 Kamimeguro, Meguro-ku,Tokyo, Japan

Animal Feeds, Inc. 3255 Park Avenue Bronx 51, New York Att: Jerome Horowitz

Joe W. Atkinson, Exec. Sec. Primate Research Study Section Rm 2B 41, Bldg. 31 National Institutes of Health Bethesda 14, Maryland

Randall K. Beedle Psychology Department Central Michigan University Mt. Pleasant, Michigan

Beverly J. Blake Dept. of Toxicology Mason Research Institute 18-20 Harvard Street Worcester, Mass. 01608

R. Charles Boelkins
Department of Psychology
University of Bristol
8-10 Berkeley Square
Bristol 8, England

Dale D. Boyd Veterinary Sciences Branch Radiobiological Laboratory RFD 4, Box 180 Austin, Texas M. M. Bree Animal Care Unit Medical School The University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan

Ben Broderson Wenner-Gren Aeronautical Research Laboratory University of Kentucky Lexington, Kentucky

James C. Brown Radiobiological Laboratory RFD 4, Box 189 Austin, Texas

Robert Byrne Laboratory Aids Branch Nat'l Institutes of Health Bethesda 14, Maryland

Gabriel A. Castellano
Dept. of Viral Diagnostic
Reagents & Viral Services
Microbiological Associates, Inc.
P. O. Box 5970
Washington 14, D. C.

S. R. K. Chopra Anthropology Dept. Panjab University Chandigarh-3 India

G. E. Cosgrove Biology Division Oak Ridge National Laboratory Post Office Box Y Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831

Charles S. Delahunt Pleasant Drive Niantic, Connecticut Philip H. Derse Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation 506 North Walnut Street Madison 6, Wisconsin

R. N. Fiennes
The Zoological Society of London
Regent's Park
London, N.W.1, England

Jack Fooden
Dept. of Natural Sciences
Chicago Teachers College
6800 Stewart Avenue
Chicago 21, Illinois

Dean L. Franklin Scripps Clinic & Res. Found. 476 Prospect Street La Jolla, California

Allan H. Frey Institute for Research P. O. Box 254 State College, Pa. 16801

G. P. A. Frijlink Verhulstlaan 23 Bilthoven Holland

D. E. Furry
U. S. Nav. Sch. of Aviation Med.
U.S. Nav. Aviation Med. Center-54
Pensacola, Florida

Cyrus Gambrill Lab. Animal Food Div. Dietrich & Gambrill, Inc. Box 430 Frederick, Maryland

Gale C. Geist Chas. Pfizer & Co., Inc. Groton, Conn.

Mrs. Marjorie J. Gilliss 5515 Snow Road Parma 29, Ohio Andrew F. Herd The Stine Laboratory P. O. Box 30 Newark, Delaware

Philip Hershkovitz Chicago Natural History Museum Roosevelt Rd. & Lake Shore Drive Chicago 5, Illinois

Werner K. Honig Department of Psychology Dalhousie University Halifax, N. S., Canada

Nelson G. Inman Department of Psychology Hofstra College Hempstead, New York

M. Inoue Dept. of Veterinary Pathology Faculty of Agriculture Gifu University Kagamihara-shi, Gifu-Ken Japan

I. Charles Kaufman
Department of Psychiatry
College of Medicine
State University of New York
450 Clarkson Avenue
Brooklyn 3, New York

Warren G. Kinzey Dept. of Anthrop. and Geog. University of California Davis, California

M. KooijMetherlands Central Institutefor Brain Research59B Mauritskade, AmsterdamThe Netherlands

Shigetaka Kotera Dept. of Laboratory Primates Japan Monkey Centre 26 Kanrin, Inuyama Aichi-Pref., Japan Mrs. Jane Lancaster Department of Anthropology University of California Berkeley, California

M. Lebeaux The Witt Memorial Hospital 1108 Main Street Worcester, Massachusetts

S. J. Levine P. O. Box 302 Brookline, Mass. 02146

Martin Lewis Pac. Inst. of Medical Research Pac. Inst. Earth Sciences 448 N. Ave. 56 Los Angeles 42, California

Karger Libri AG Arnold-Bocklin-Strasse 23-25 Basel, Switzerland

Donald E. McMillan Dept. of Psychology University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh 13, Pa.

John A. Moore Animal Hospital The School of Medicine Western Reserve University Cleveland 6, Ohio

Lois Morgan 27 Herkimer Street Apt. #302 Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Inst. of Lab. Animal Res. Div. of Biol. & Agriculture National Academy of Sciences 2101 Constitution Ave. Washington, D. C. 20418 Att: Mrs. Mary B. Sundbarg

Thomas E. Ogden
Div. of Neurology
Bldg. 453
Univ. of Utah Coll. of Medicine
Salt Lake City, Utah 84112

Walter H. Peacock Animal Colonies Division U. S. Army CRDL Edgewood Arsenal Maryland

Arthur C. Peters Biosciences Research Batelle Memorial Institute 505 King Avenue Columbus 1, Ohio

James R. Pick Institute of Lab. Animal Res. Div. of Biol. & Agriculture National Academy of Sciences 2101 Constitution Ave. Washington, D. C. 20418

Lawrence R. Pinneo Delta Regional Primate Res. Center Tulane University Covington, Louisiana

D. Ploog
Deutsche Forschungsanstalt
fur Psychiatrie
Max-Planck-Institut
Kraepelinstrasse 2
8 Munchen 23, Germany

J. Stuart Reed Chesapeake Feed Company, Inc. P. O. Box 23 Beltsville, Maryland

David S. Riccio
U. S. Naval Aviation
Medical Center-54
U.S. Nav. Sch. of Aviation Med.
Pensacola, Florida

Suzanne Ripley 2725 Dwight Way Berkeley 4, California

Ken Schiltz Primate Laboratory 22 N. Charter Street Madison, Wisconsin Robert G. Scholtens Zoonoses Surveillance Unit Veterinary Public Health Section Communicable Disease Center Public Health Service Atlanta 22, Georgia

Allan M. Schrier Psychology Department Brown University Providence, R. I. 02912

Joseph C. Sharpe Behavioral Radiology Lab. Bldg. #502, Forest Glen Sec. Walter Reed Army Inst. of Res. Walter Reed Army Med. Center Washington, D. C. 20012

Charles A. Slanetz, Sr. Inst. of Comparative Med. Coll. of Physicians & Surgeons Columbia University 630 West 168th St. New York 32, New York

Carl C. Smith
The Christ Hospital Institute
of Medical Research
2139 Auburn Avenue
Cincinnati 19, Ohio

Ronald Spink Animal Care Unit The University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan

James G. Stangby
Department of Biology
Brookhaven National Laboratory
Associated Universities, Inc.
Upton, L. I., N. Y.

C. Spencer Streett
Experimental Pathology
U. S. Army CRDL
Edgewood Arsenal, Maryland

Andrew J. Stynes Primate Behavior Laboratory Downstate Medical Center State University of New York 450 Clarkson Ave. Brooklyn 3, N. Y.

Toshio Tanaka Dept. of Laboratory Primates Japan Monkey Centre 26 Kanrin, Inuyama Aichi-Pref., Japan

Russell H. Tuttle
Dept. of Anthropology
232 Kroeber Hall
University of California
Berkeley 4, California

Experimental Pathology Office Directorate of Med. Research U. S. Army CRDL Edgewood Arsenal, Maryland

U. S. Navy Preventive Medicine Unit No. 5U. S. Naval Hospital San Diego 34, California

Harold Vagtborg Southwest Foundation for Research & Education P. O. Box 2296 San Antonio, Texas

Steven G. Vaindenberg Child Development Unit Medical Dental Research Bldg. 511 South Floyd Street Louisville 2, Kentucky

Frans M. van den Brink G. van den Brink, N. V. P. O. Box 15 Soest Holland Chief, Supply Division-Warehouse Veterans Administration Hospital 500 Foothill Drive Salt Lake City 13, Utah

T. E. Vice
Southwest Foundation for
Res. & Education
P. O. Box 2296
San Antonio, Texas

Wenner-Gren Aeronautical
Res. Laboratory
Coll. of Eng.-Eng. Exp. Station
University of Kentucky
Lexington, Kentucky

Wisconsin Alumni Res. Foundation P. O. Box 2217 Madison 5, Wisconsin Thomas L. Wolfle Radiobiological Laboratory RFD No. 4, Box 189 Austin, Texas

David Yellen
David Yellen Co., Inc.
Canton, Mass.

Serials Department General Library University of California Berkeley 4, California

Biology Division Library Argonne National Laboratory 9700 South Cass Avenue Argonne, Illinois

ADDRESS CHANGES

Gershon Berkson Illinois State Pediatric Inst. 1640 W. Roosevelt Road Chicago 8, Illinois

G. N. Bourne Room 105 Anatomy Bldg. Regional Primate Res. Center Emory University Atlanta 22, Georgia

P. L. Broadhurst Department of Anatomy The Medical School University of Birmingham Birmingham 15, England

Jack Culbertson Psychology Department Brown University Providence, R. I. 02912

Irven De Vore Dept. of Anthropology Harvard University Cambridge, Massachusetts

M. E. Grunzke 1913 Northcrest Drive Waco, Texas 76710 Richard Held Psychology Dept. Mass. Inst. of Technology Cambridge, Massachusetts

Preston Holden
Disease Ecology Section
Public Health Service
P. O. Box 1997
Greeley, Colorado 80632

Christian A. Hovde Bishop Anderson Foundation 714 S. Marshfield Avenue Chicago, Ill. 60614

Jerry W. Koppman Dept. of Psychology San Diego State College San Diego 15, California

William Montagna Oregon Primate Research Center 505 N. W. 185th Avenue Beaverton, Oregon

Frederick H. Rohles, Jr.
Inst. of Env. Res.-Dept. of Mech. Eng.
Kansas State University
Manhattan, Kansas 66504
-24-

Bryan W. Robinson Dept. of Neurology Stanford University Hospital Palo Alto, California

R. J. Schusterman Stanford Research Institute Menlo Park, California Mark K. Taylor Dept. of Biology Bryn Mawr College Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Jonathan Wegener Goshen College Goshen, Indiana